SSOCIATION BYLAWS

RECREATION CENTERS OF SUN CITY WEST, INC.

An Arizona Nonprofit Corporation

RECREATION CENTERS of SUN CITY WEST, INC.

An Arizona Non-Profit Corporation

ASSOCIATION BYLAWS Revisions/Deletions -Last Fully Amended & Restated 5.28.20*-

--NOTE: Bylaws Revisions/Deletions from 12.18.08 through 1.25.18 are attached to this page (and must be SAVED because the original document is unavailable online)—

--NOTE: This document was not updated from 1.25.18 through 11.29.18, but time span was checked in meeting minutes for Bylaws changes (none)--

Bylaw #	REVISION or	Date
	DELETION	
6.2.1/6.2.2.7/6.2.2.7.1	Revision/Deletion	11.29.18
9.2.1/9.2.1.1/9.2.1.2/9.2.1.3/9.2.2.2/9.2.3.2	Revision/Deletion	11.29.18
3.4.2/3.4.3/3.4.5/3.4.5/3.4.5.1/3.4.5.2	Revision	3.28.19
4.16/4.16.2/4.16.2.1/4.16.2.7/4.16.3.1.2/4.17/4.2.1/4.3.2.9/4.9.4/4.9.5	Revision/Deletion	3.28.19
6.02/6.2.1/6.2.1.5	Revision	5.28.20
8.04/8.44	Revision	5.28.20
8.01/8.12	Revision	5.28.20
Full Bylaws Re-Format/Re-Number Revision	Full Formatting/Numbering Revision By RCSCW Attorney Clerk	5.28.20
4.16.3/4.16.3.1/4.16.3.1.1/4.16.3.1.2/4.16.3.1.3/4.16.3.2.2	Revision	9.23.21
8.04/8.4.4	Revision	2.24.22

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE 01 – GO	VERNANCE STRUCTURE	
Section 1.01	RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS	2
Section 1.02	OWNER MEMBERS	2
Section 1.03	GOVERNING BOARD OF DIRECTORS	2
Section 1.04	GENERAL MANAGER	2
Section 1.05	GOVERNING DOCUMENTS	2
ARTICLE 02 – ME	MBERSHIP IN THE ASSOCIATION	
Section 2.01	CLASSES OF MEMBERSHIP	3
Section 2.02	OWNER MEMBER	3
Section 2.03	ASSOCIATE MEMBER	4
Section 2.04	LANDLORDS AND TENANTS	4
Section 2.05	PRIVILEGES AND RIGHTS	5
Section 2.06	MEMBER DUES, FEES, SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, OTHER FEES & CHARGES	6
Section 2.07	SUSPENSION OF MEMBER RIGHTS	8
Section 2.08	RESIDENTIAL UNITS AND RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY	8
Section 2.09	MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY & SPECIAL HOUSING PROPERTY	9
ARTICLE 03 – OW	NER MEMBER ELECTION/MEETINGS	
Section 3.01	PLACE OF MEETINGS	0
Section 3.02	ANNUAL OWNER MEMBER MEETING1	0
Section 3.03	SPECIAL OWNER MEMBER ELECTIONS/MEETINGS1	. 1
Section 3.04	NOTICE OF OWNER MEMBER MEETINGS	1

Section 3.05	OWNER MEMBER QUORUM	.12
Section 3.06	PROXIES PROHIBITED	.12
Section 3.07	PROCEDURES FOR OWNER MEMBER MEETINGS	.12
Section 3.08	VOTING RIGHTS	.12
Section 3.09	ABSENTEE BALLOTS	.12
Section 3.10	MAIL-IN VOTE	.13
Section 3.11	OTHER METHODS OF VOTING	.13
Section 3.12	BALLOT VOTE ON REFERENDA	.14
ARTICLE 04 – GO	VERNING BOARD	
Section 4.01	COMPOSITION	.14
Section 4.02	SELECTION OF GOVERNING BOARD CANDIDATES	.14
Section 4.03	ELECTION OF CANDIDATES	.14
Section 4.04	TERM OF OFFICE	.15
Section 4.05	PLACE OF GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS	.16
Section 4.06	REGULAR GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS	16
Section 4.07	GENERAL MANAGER OPERATIONS MEETINGS	.17
Section 4.08	WORKSHOP	.17
Section 4.09	SPECIAL GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS	.17
Section 4.10	DIRECTOR MEETING ATTENDANCE	.18
Section 4.11	GOVERNING BOARD QUORUM AND EMERGENCY MEETINGS	.18
Section 4.12	MANNER OF ACTION	.19
Section 4.13	MEETING DELEGATIONS	.19
Section 4.14	RESIGNATIONS	.19
Section 4.15	COMPENSATION AND REIMBURSEMENT	19

Section 4.16	REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD	19
Section 4.17	FILLING VACANCIES ON THE GOVERNING BOARD	21
Section 4.18	GENERAL POWERS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD	21
Section 4.19	DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNING BOARD	23
Section 4.20	RESTRICTIONS ON GOVERNING BOARD POWERS	24
Section 4.21	BONDING/INSURANCE	25
ARTICLE 5 – OFF	ICERS OF THE ASSOCIATION	
Section 5.01	ELECTION OF OFFICERS	25
Section 5.02	PRESIDENT	25
Section 5.03	VICE PRESIDENT	26
Section 5.04	SECRETARY	26
Section 5.05	TREASURER	26
Section 5.06	REMOVAL OF OFFICERS	27
Section 5.07	OFFICER VACANCIES	27
Section 5.08	MULTIPLE OFFICES	27
ARTICLE 6 – COM	IMITTEES	
Section 6.01	ORGANIZATION OF COMMITTEES	28
Section 6.02	STANDING COMMITTEES	28
ARTICLE 7 – GEN	ERAL MANAGER	
Section 7.01	GENERAL	29
Section 7.02	APPOINTMENT AND QUALIFICATIONS	29
Section 7.03	POWERS AND DUTIES	30
Section 7.04	EVALUATION AND REMOVAL	31

Section 7.05	VACANCY	31
ARTICLE 8 – CHA	ARTERED CLUBS	
Section 8.01	GENERAL	32
Section 8.02	MEMBERSHIP	32
Section 8.03	USE OF ASSOCIATION FACILITIES	32
Section 8.04	SPECIAL PROVISION	32
ARTICLE 9 – AMI	ENDMENT OF BYLAWS	
Section 9.01	AMENDMENT BY OWNER MEMBER ACTION	33
Section 9.02	AMENDMENT BY GOVERNING BOARD ACTION	34
ARTICLE 10 – GE	NERAL PROVISIONS	
Section 10.03	CORPORATE SEAL	35
Section 10.02	2 EXEMPT ACTIVITIES	35
Section 10.03	3 INDEMNIFICATION	35
Section 10.04	FISCAL YEAR	36
Section 10.05	ADMINISTRATION OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS	36
Section 10.06	5 EXAMINING RECORDS, REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS	36
Section 10.07	SUN CITY WEST BOUNDARIES	37

RECREATION CENTERS OF SUN CITY WEST, INC.

An Arizona Nonprofit Corporation

BYLAWS

(Originally Amended and Restated April 2, 2007)

As Amended with Subsequent Amendments through May 28, 2020, Incorporated Herein

PREAMBLE

The Bylaws (hereinafter, "Bylaws") provide for the governance and operation of the RECREATION CENTERS OF SUN CITY WEST, INC., an Arizona nonprofit corporation (hereinafter, the "Association"), that has been formed under the laws of the State of Arizona for the purpose of owning, operating, maintaining and preserving facilities which enhance the recreational, social and leisure interests of its Membership. As provided in Article III, Section 1, of its Articles of Incorporation, this Association also is incorporated "to provide and maintain certain civic and community services not otherwise provided for including, without limitation, the maintenance of landscaping of medians, rights-of-way, landscape easements of major arterial streets and other areas within Sun City West constituting Association Property as defined in Article I, to the extent they are not maintained by the County of Maricopa or other governmental entities and/or community organizations." Sun City West is a retirement community subject to the Federal Housing for Older Persons Act of 1995, as amended, and the Arizona Fair Housing Act, under which at least one person who is a member of the family residing in each Residential Unit in Sun City West, must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age and none under nineteen (19) years of age.

ARTICLE 01 GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Section 1.01 RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS

Sun City West is an age-restricted community subject to the federal Housing for Older Persons Act of 1995, as amended, and the Arizona Fair Housing Act. As such, residency in Residential Units in Sun City West is subject to the following restrictions and qualifications.

- 1.1.1 One (1) person residing in each Sun City West Residential Unit must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age.
- 1.1.2 No person under nineteen (19) years of age shall be permitted to reside in any Residential Unit.

Section 1.02 OWNER MEMBERS

The Association has been formed on behalf of all owners of Residential Units in Sun City West to own, operate, maintain, and preserve facilities which enhance the recreational, social, and leisure interests of its Membership.

1.2.1 In this Governance Structure the voting Membership consists of all Owner Members who have prevailing voting rights on matters affecting the Association as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 1.03 GOVERNING BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The affairs of the Association shall be directed by a Governing Board consisting of nine (9) Directors, each of whom shall be a resident Owner Member of the Association elected by Owner Members or appointed by the Governing Board in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws.

1.3.1 The principal purposes, powers, duties and functions of the Governing Board shall be as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 1.04 GENERAL MANAGER

A General Manager shall be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Governing Board, and is responsible for implementing the policies of the Association as established by the Governing Board.

- 1.4.1 The General Manager is responsible for the management and administration of the Association in accordance with the Association's Governing Documents.
- 1.4.2 The method of appointment, removal, duties, and responsibilities of the General Manager shall be as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 1.05 GOVERNING DOCUMENTS

The Association Governing Documents, in order of their precedence, are as follows:

- 1.5.1 Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs), also known as the Declarations);
- 1.5.2 Articles of Incorporation for Recreation Centers of Sun City West, Inc.;
- 1.5.3 Association Bylaws;
- 1.5.4 Facilities Agreements and Facilities Use Agreements entered into with the Association;

- 1.5.5 Policy Statements of the Governing Board; and
- 1.5.6 Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Chartered Clubs (RR&Ps).

ARTICLE 02 MEMBERSHIP IN THE ASSOCIATION

(For additional information regarding Membership and Activity Cards for Facility Use see Governing Board Policy M01)

Section 2.01 CLASSES OF MEMBERSHIP

There shall be two classes of membership: Owner Member and Associate Member.

Section 2.02 OWNER MEMBER

Each owner on any deed to a Residential Unit in Sun City West is an Owner Member of the Association and payment of annual Owner Member Dues is mandatory.

- 2.2.1 For purposes of these Bylaws, a Residential Unit means and refers to a single-family home, condominium, townhouse, duplex or individual living unit of a multi-family housing structure or complex located in Sun City West, zoned for residential use and intended for residential use.
- 2.2.2 Each owner, whether one or more persons or entities, of a Residential Unit within Sun City West shall be an Owner Member.
 - 2.2.2.1 Upon payment of dues, an Owner Member Card shall be issued to each Owner Member and the card is not transferable to another person or to a different property.
 - 2.2.2.2 The term "Owner" shall include all beneficial owners in a Grantor-type Trust, Living Trust, or Testamentary Trust, but shall exclude in all cases any party holding an interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation or merely as an executor, administrator, or trustee.
 - 2.2.2.3 Owner Members shall be identified by a recorded document which shall include, but is not limited to, any of the following:
 - 2.2.2.3.1 Persons who acquire title by means of a Sheriff's Deed issued as a result of a mortgage or Deed of Trust foreclosure;
 - 2.2.2.3.2 Persons who acquire title by means of a Trustee's Deed issued as a result of the exercise of a power of sale under a Deed of Trust;
 - 2.2.2.3.3 Persons who acquire title by means of a Deed in lieu of the foreclosure of a mortgage or Deed of Trust;
 - 2.2.2.3.4 Persons who receive a deed as a purchaser pursuant to any valid and outstanding recorded Executory Agreement of Sale with respect to a Residential Unit; or
 - 2.2.2.3.5 Persons who receive a Quit Claim Deed, Beneficiary Deed, Warranty Deed, or any other type of recorded deed or any other type of beneficial ownership interest.

- 2.2.3 UNDERAGE OWNER MEMBER: Under Arizona State law, a person under fifty-five years of age may legally acquire a Residential Unit in Sun City West.
 - 2.2.3.1 Such persons shall be Owner Members and shall be obligated to pay Annual Owner Member Dues and Special Assessments to the Association.
 - 2.2.3.2 Such persons, or their legal representative or guardian if a minor, shall have Owner Member voting rights in the affairs of the Association.
 - 2.2.3.3 Such persons are not authorized to reside in the Residential Unit unless there is a resident residing therein who is at least fifty-five years of age. No one under nineteen (19) years of age may reside in the Residential Unit.
 - 2.2.3.4 If the only person in the household who is at least fifty-five (55) years of age dies, a spouse under fifty-five (55) years of age who is or who thereby becomes an owner, will be allowed to continue to reside in that Residential Unit and to have Association facility use privileges as long as they continue residing therein.

Section 2.03 ASSOCIATE MEMBER:

An Associate Member may be any non-titleholder resident of Sun City West who resides with an Owner Member and meets the qualifications in these Bylaws. This membership is elective and does not have to be maintained.

- 2.3.1. Any non-titleholder resident of a Residential Unit, nineteen (19) years of age or older, and domiciled for more than six (6) months in a twelve (12) month period with a qualified resident who is at least fifty-five (55) years of age, is eligible to be an Associate Member in the Association.
- 2.3.2 Upon payment of Associate Member fees, an Associate Member Card shall be issued to each Associate Member, and the card is not transferable to another person or to a different property.
- 2.3.3 Persons with a valid Associate Member Card shall have the same privilege of facilities use accorded to Owner Members of the Association. By accepting an Associate Member Card, the Associate Member agrees to abide by the Governing Documents of the Association.
- 2.3.4 If an Owner Member dies, a spouse under fifty-five (55) years of age who is an Associate Member may continue that membership so long as the spouse continues to reside in that Residential Unit, notwithstanding the fact that no other person at least fifty-five (55) years of age resides there.

Section 2.04 LANDLORDS AND TENANTS:

- 2.4.1 For the purposes of these Bylaws:
 - 2.4.1.1 Landlord shall mean and refer to the owner or owners of any single-family Residential Unit and each Residential Unit of a multi-family structure or complex while it is rented or leased at any time. As such, the Landlord(s) will in all respects already be a mandatory Owner Member(s).
 - 2.4.1.2 Tenant shall mean and refer to a non-titleholder resident who is a person(s) leasing or renting a Residential Unit in Sun City West.

- 2.4.1.3 Tenant Activity Card shall mean and refer to the card issued by the Association to a Tenant of a Residential Unit, which permits the Tenant access to the Association's facilities and participation in the related activities, in accordance with the Association's Governing Documents.
- 2.4.1.4 Residential Rental Property shall mean and refer to any single-family Residential Unit and each Residential Unit of a multi-family structure or complex while it is rented or leased at any time.
- 2.4.1.5 Multi-Unit Residential Property shall mean and refer to a structure or complex of more than one Residential Rental Property.
- 2.4.1.6 Special Housing Property shall mean and refer to life care, convalescent care, catered or assisted living, and other similar facilities.
- 2.4.2 At least one of the Tenants residing in a Residential Unit must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age, and no one under nineteen (19) years of age shall reside in the Residential Unit.
- 2.4.3 All Residential Rental Properties must be used and devoted exclusively to single family residential use.
 - 2.4.3.1 "Single family" shall mean a group of one (1) or more persons each related to the other by blood, marriage or legal adoption, or a group of not more than three (3) persons not also related, together with their domestic servants, who maintain a common household in a dwelling. Amended and Restated 4-02-07 5

Section 2.05 PRIVILEGES AND RIGHTS:

- 2.5.1 An Owner Member in good standing, as defined in Section 2.5.6 hereof, shall be entitled to vote, hold office, sign petitions, and use all available facilities, subject to the provisions of the Association's Governing Documents.
- 2.5.2 Only resident Owner Members in good standing shall be entitled to hold office as a Director of the Governing Board.
- 2.5.3 Associate Members and holders of Tenant Activity Cards in good standing shall not be entitled to vote, hold office, or sign petitions, but shall be entitled to use all facilities of the Association, subject to the facility use obligations of an Owner Member, as set forth in the Association's Governing Documents.
- 2.5.4 Owner Members, Associate Members, and holders of Tenant Activity Cards in good standing shall be eligible for membership in Chartered Clubs.
 - 2.5.4.1 "Chartered Club" shall mean and refer to a group of Members of the Association and holders of Tenant Activity Cards who have joined together in the pursuit of a particular recreational, social or leisure activity, have sought and received a charter from the General Manager, and whose charter has not been suspended or revoked by the Association.
 - 2.5.4.2 Membership in a Chartered Club is governed by the Governing Documents of the Association, including without limitation, the Bylaws, Governing Board Policies and the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Chartered Clubs (RR&Ps).

- 2.5.5 Owner Members, Associate Members, and holders of Tenant Activity Cards in good standing shall have guest privileges for their guests as provided in the Association's Bylaws and guest policies.
- 2.5.6 Owner Members, Associate Members, and holders of Tenant Activity Cards are considered to be in good standing with the Association, and eligible to exercise the rights and privileges hereunder, only if all of the following conditions are met:
 - 2.5.6.1 The person is qualified to hold a member or Tenant Activity Card as described in these Bylaws;
 - 2.5.6.2 The person is current with all dues, fees, fines, special assessments, or other fees and charges, duly adopted and imposed; and
 - 2.5.6.3 The person is not under suspension by the Association.

Section 2.06 MEMBER DUES, FEES, SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, OTHER FEES & CHARGES:

- 2.6.1 <u>MEMBER DUES AND FEES</u>: All Dues and Fees are established by the Governing Board unless specifically delegated herein.
 - 2.6.1.1 <u>Annual Owner Member Dues</u>: Each Owner Member of a Residential Unit within Sun City West shall pay annual dues to the Association.
 - 2.6.1.1.1 Dues shall be payable in advance by each Owner Member on or before the anniversary date of the owner's Association membership.
 - 2.6.1.1.2 Membership begins on the day the deed is recorded.
 - 2.6.1.1.3 Owner Member dues shall be fixed annually at a uniform rate per titleholder for all Residential Units.
 - 2.6.1.2 <u>Associate Member Fees</u>: Each Associate Member residing with an Owner Member in Sun City West shall pay to the Association an annual Associate Member fee for use of Association Facilities.
 - 2.6.1.2.1 The amount of the fee shall be the same as the dues for an Owner Member.
 - 2.6.1.2.2 The Associate Member fee shall be payable in advance by each Associate Member on or before the expiration date, which shall be one year from date of original purchase.
 - 2.6.1.3 <u>Tenant Activity Card Fees</u>: Persons leasing or renting Residential Units in Sun City West and electing to use Association facilities shall be required to pay a Tenant Activity Card Fee.
 - 2.6.1.3.1 This fee is payable in advance and prorated monthly for up to 9 months for the term of the lease, up to a maximum of one (1) year.

- 2.6.1.4 <u>Landlord Card Fees</u>: The number of Tenant Activity Cards issued for each Residential Rental Unit shall not exceed the combined number of paid Owner Member and Associate Member Cards on file with the Association for that Unit.
 - 2.6.1.4.1 If the owner does not have a sufficient number of current Owner Member and Associate Member Cards for such Residential Rental Unit on file with the Association to provide sufficient Tenant Activity Cards to the Tenants, the Owner Amended and Restated 4-02-07 7 Member may purchase Landlord Cards to permit Tenants named on the valid lease to purchase Tenant Activity Cards at the established fee.
 - 2.6.1.4.2 For the purposes of these Bylaws, the term 'Landlord Card' shall mean and refer to the additional card(s) purchased from the Association by an Owner Member to satisfy the requirements to allow a Sun City West Residential Unit to be used as a Residential Rental Unit as provided in these Bylaws.
 - 2.6.1.4.3 There must be at least one (1) Owner Member, Associate Member or Landlord Card on file for each holder of a Tenant Activity Card residing in the Residential Rental Unit.
 - 2.6.1.4.4 Landlord Cards are non-refundable and not transferable to another property and are and shall remain the sole property of the Association.
 - 2.6.1.4.5 The amount of the fee for a Landlord Card shall be the same as the dues for an Owner Member and shall not be prorated.
 - 2.6.1.4.6 Landlord Cards are not for facility use and shall remain on file with the Association.
- 2.6.1.5 <u>Asset Preservation Fees</u>: The Governing Board may establish a fee to be paid by the purchasers of Residential Units to offset capital expenditures for major maintenance, repair, replacement, remodeling, and costs of new construction of the Association's facilities.
 - 2.6.1.5.1 The amount of this fee, its specific allocation, and exemptions from the requirement to pay, shall be established by the Governing Board.
- 2.6.1.6 <u>Delinquent Dues</u>, <u>Fees</u>, <u>Fines and Special Assessments</u>: If Association membership dues, fees, fines, or special assessments are not paid within thirty (30) days of the due date, a late charge of fifteen and no/100 dollars (\$15.00) or ten percent (10%) of the unpaid balance, whichever is greater, will be assessed.
- 2.6.1.7 <u>Disclosure Fees</u>: Sellers of a Sun City West Residential Property shall pay to the Association a Residential Unit Disclosure Fee which shall be due and payable prior to the time the new deed is recorded.
 - 2.6.1.7.1 The Disclosure Fee shall be a fee payable by the seller to the Association to cover the costs of disclosing the Governing Documents and other documents required by law to be delivered to the purchaser of property under the jurisdiction of the Association.
- 2.6.1.8 <u>Guest Card Fees</u>: Owner Members, Associate Members, and holders of Tenant Activity Cards, may purchase a Guest Card that shall be marked on a per diem basis for their guests to use

Association recreational facilities except for Golf and Bowling where the guest pays a specified use fee. In no event shall an Owner Member, Associate Member, or a tenant who does not hold a Tenant Activity Card, in good standing or not, or a resident who is eligible for elective membership, be extended the use of Association recreational facilities as a guest of another.

- 2.6.1.9 <u>Resale Transfer Fees</u>: The new owner of a Residential Unit shall pay the Association a Resale Transfer Fee which shall be due and payable by the new owner(s) at the time a new deed is recorded.
 - 2.6.1.9.1 The Resale Transfer Fee shall be a fee payable to the Association by the Purchaser of property in Sun City West to cover the administrative costs of transferring ownership of the property on the records of the Association.
 - 2.6.1.9.2 Membership in the Association begins on the day the new deed is recorded.
- 2.6.2 <u>SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS</u>: In addition to the Association Owner Member Dues authorized by these Bylaws, the Governing Board may levy an approved Special Assessment against each Residential Unit Amended and Restated 4-02-07 8 within Sun City West, for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the costs of repair, replacement, or addition to the Association's Facilities.
 - 2.6.2.1 A Special Assessment and its terms shall be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Owner Members of the Association voting in person or by absentee or mail-in ballot.
 - 2.6.2.2 Special Assessments shall be fixed at the same rate for all Residential Units.
- 2.6.3 <u>OTHER FEES AND CHARGES</u>: Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Governing Board shall determine all Association fees and charges and may modify such fees and charges upon thirty (30) days notice to the members.
 - 2.6.3.1 The General Manager shall determine fees and charges for the preparation and provision of documents and may recommend the adoption and amount of all other Association fees and charges.
 - 2.6.3.2 Upon advising the Board in writing, the General Manager may, for a specified period of time, temporarily reduce other fees and charges as part of a promotional program without the requirement of the thirty (30) day notice to the membership.

Section 2.07 SUSPENSION OF MEMBER RIGHTS:

This section of these Bylaws applies to all Owner Members, Associate Members and holders of Tenant Activity Cards but does not apply to nonpayment of dues and special assessments. Membership rights are subject to suspension through General Manager and Governing Board action. **See Governing Board Policy M02** (Suspension of Membership) for current policies and procedures.

Section 2.08 RESIDENTIAL UNITS AND RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY:

2.8.1 <u>FACILITIES AGREEMENTS</u>: Each owner of a Residential Unit shall execute and require successive owners to execute a Recreation Centers of Sun City West, Inc. Facilities Agreement and such shall be binding upon the owner's assigns and successors.

- 2.8.2 <u>FACILITIES USE AGREEMENTS</u>: If a Sun City West Property is acquired that is not subject to the jurisdiction of the Association and the owner desires that this property be added to the jurisdiction of the Association, a signed Facilities Use Agreement shall be executed between the owner and the Governing Board.
 - 2.8.2.1 A Facilities Use Agreement is executed for new properties being converted to residential property, Multi-Unit Residential Property, or Special Housing Property.
 - 2.8.2.2 Each owner shall execute, and require successive owners to execute, a Recreation Centers of Sun City West, Inc. Facilities Use Agreement, and such shall be binding upon the owner's assigns and successors.
 - 2.8.2.3 The provisions contained in the Facilities Use Agreement must be approved by a minimum of five (5) affirmative votes of the Governing Board and shall be signed by the President.
- 2.8.3 <u>REZONING OF SUN CITY WEST PROPERTY</u>: In the event an owner of property within Sun City West obtains rezoning of said property for residential use or obtains rezoning of said residential property for a higher density residential use, the Governing Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, whether to permit such owners to become members of the Association.

Section 2.09 MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY & SPECIAL HOUSING PROPERTY:

The Governing Board may or may not extend membership to multi-unit residential property or special housing property owners as it deems appropriate.

- 2.9.1 If membership is extended, the Governing Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, the terms and conditions of the Facilities Use Agreement for the multi-unit residential property or special housing property.
 - 2.9.1.1 The Governing Board shall consider the property use impact to Association facility use and other relevant facts in determining the amount of the Facilities Investment Fee.
 - 2.9.1.1.1 The Facilities Investment Fee shall mean and refer to a special fee charged to developers who wish to become approved members of the Association to offset the impact of such expansion.
 - 2.9.1.1.2 The Facilities Investment fee is to be used only for capital expenditures such as major maintenance, repair, replacement, remodeling, and the cost of new construction of Association facilities.
 - 2.9.1.2 The Governing Board shall determine the terms, conditions, fees, assessments, and initial Facilities Investment Fee charges, which shall be listed in the Facilities Use Agreement.
 - 2.9.1.2.1. The Facilities Use Agreement shall be binding upon the owner's assigns and successors.
 - 2.9.1.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, each owner of a Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property shall execute, and require successive owners to execute, an Association Facilities Use Agreement for each approved Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property.

- 2.9.2 The owner(s) of Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property who have been extended membership privileges by the Association shall be considered an Owner Member, subject to Owner Member dues for each Residential Unit, but shall be entitled to only a single Owner Member vote in Association elections.
- 2.9.3 In the event any such Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property is subsequently subjected to a condominium or horizontal property regime, said property shall no longer be deemed to be a Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property.
 - 2.9.3.1 The Multi-Unit Residential or Special Housing Units shall be treated in the same manner as Residential Units in which ownership has passed to individual owners.
- 2.9.4 Occupants of a Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property shall not be eligible for membership in the Association or to purchase Tenant Activity Cards of the Association unless at least one of the following two provisions is applicable:
 - 2.9.4.1 The occupant is an Owner Member of another qualifying residential property located in Sun City West; or Amended and Restated 4-02-07 11
 - 2.9.4.2 The Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property in which the person resides has made specific arrangements with the Association for membership of its residents or for the purchase of Tenant Activity Cards under such terms and conditions as may be specified in the Facilities Use Agreement.
- 2.9.5 At least one occupant in each residential unit of a Multi-Unit Residential Property or Special Housing Property must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age. No person under nineteen (19) years of age shall reside in the Residential Unit.

ARTICLE 03 OWNER MEMBER ELECTON/MEETINGS

Section 3.01 PLACE OF MEETINGS:

Except in emergency situations, all meetings of the Owner Members shall be held at such locations within Sun City West as the Governing Board shall determine.

Section 3.02 ANNUAL OWNER MEMBER MEETING:

The annual meeting of the Owner Members shall be held in June, on a date to be established by the Governing Board.

- 3.2.1 The Regular Governing Board Meeting held in June is the only scheduled Owner Member Meeting held each year.
- 3.2.2 All Owner Member meetings of the Association are open to all members of the Association.
 - 3.2.2.1 In the event that an Owner Member vote is required in any Owner Member meeting, the President may, with the approval of the Governing Board, limit attendance at such meetings to Owner Members in good standing.
- 3.2.3 Only Owner Members may speak at an appropriate time during the deliberations and proceedings subject to reasonable restrictions as provided by Arizona law.

Section 3.03 SPECIAL OWNER MEMBER ELECTIONS/MEETINGS:

Special elections/meetings of Owner Members may be called by the President of the Governing Board, by a majority vote of the Governing Board, or by petition of the Owner Members.

- 3.3.1 An Owner Member petition on an official association form (appendix 3 & 3a) must be signed by at least one thousand (1,000) of the Owner Members eligible to vote.
- 3.3.2 The petition shall state the business to be considered at the election/meeting.
- 3.3.3 Special Owner Member meetings shall be open to all members in the same manner as annual Owner Member meetings are.
- 3.3.4 Special Owner Member elections in lieu of a meeting may be held pursuant to Section 3.10 and/or Section 3.12 by utilizing ballot votes or mail-in-ballots, as determined by the Governing Board.

Section 3.04 NOTICE OF OWNER MEMBER MEETINGS:

Written notice of annual and special meetings of the Owner Members shall state the place, day and hour, and agenda of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose for which the meeting is called.

- 3.4.1 Within ten (10) calendar days after the Secretary of the Association ensures that the Executive Assistant has verified the signatures on the petition, the President shall give written notice of a special meeting to be held within the time periods set forth herein.
- 3.4.2 The notice for the annual and all other Owner Member meetings shall be published and mailed by first-class mail (or as otherwise provided by Arizona law A.R.S. 33-1804(B)) to each Owner Member not less than fourteen (14) nor more than fifty (50) calendar days before the date of the meeting.
- 3.4.3 Such notice, when mailed, shall be addressed to the Owner Member at the Owner Member's last address appearing on the records of the Association or supplied to the Association by such Owner Member for the purpose of receiving such a notice.
- 3.4.4 In any event, the notice shall be conspicuously posted on Association bulletin boards, on the official Association Website designated by the Governing Board, and published in the Rec Center News or its successor publication that is generally distributed to all households or, if no longer published, published in at least one newspaper circulated in Sun City West.
- 3.4.5 When a meeting is adjourned/continued to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time, date, and place of the meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken.
 - 3.4.5.1 At the adjourned/continued meeting, once a quorum is established, the Association may transact any business that might have been transacted at the original meeting.
 - 3.4.5.2 If the adjournment/continuation is for more than thirty (30) calendar days, new notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each Owner Member.

Section 3.05 OWNER MEMBER QUORUM:

At a meeting where Owner Members are entitled to vote, the combined presence in person and by absentee ballot duly cast in accord with these Bylaws of at least one thousand (1,000) Owner Members in good standing shall be considered a quorum for the purpose of the transaction of business at such meeting.

- 3.5.1 A quorum shall be presumed in the absence of a challenge.
- 3.5.2 If a quorum is not present or represented by absentee ballot duly cast at such a meeting, the Owner Members entitled to vote at such meeting shall have the power to adjourn the meeting to another time, but may not transact any other business.
- 3.5.3 An adjournment for lack of a quorum by those in attendance shall be to a date, not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) calendar days from the original meeting date. At such adjourned meeting, at which a quorum is present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed.

Section 3.06 PROXIES PROHIBITED:

Votes allocated to an Owner Member of a Residential Unit may not be cast pursuant to a proxy. Nothing herein contained, however, shall preclude the use of an absentee ballot as provided in these Bylaws.

Section 3.07 PROCEDURES FOR OWNER MEMBER MEETINGS:

Owner Member meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the following documents in this order of precedence:

- 3.7.1 The Association Bylaws;
- 3.7.2 Previously adopted Governing Board rules of procedure; and
- 3.7.3 Robert's Rules of Order, most recent edition, provided, that Robert's Rules of Order may be suspended by a majority vote of Owner Members in attendance.

Section 3.08 VOTING RIGHTS

At any Owner Member meeting of the Association, each Owner Member in good standing is entitled to one (1) vote for each Residential Unit owned in Sun City West except as provided in Section 2.9.2 hereof.

3.8.1 Provided a quorum is present, the majority of votes cast by Owner Members shall be the act of the full membership except as may be otherwise specifically provided in these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or Arizona law.

Section 3.09 ABSENTEE BALLOTS:

At any meeting of the Owner Members, each Owner Member shall be entitled to vote by absentee ballot.

- 3.9.1 The absentee ballot must comply with all of the following:
 - 3.9.1.1 Set forth each proposed action to be taken at the meeting;
 - 3.9.1.2 Provide an opportunity to vote for or against the proposed action;
 - 3.9.1.3 State that the absentee ballot is valid for only one specified election or meeting of the Owner Members and expires automatically after the completion of the election or meeting,

including any duly noticed adjournment thereof;

- 3.9.1.4 Specify the time, date, and place where the ballot must be delivered to the Election Committee in order to be counted, which shall be at least seven (7) days after the date that the Governing Board makes available the non-voted ballot to the Owner Member; and
- 3.9.1.5 Clearly state the following: "The recipient of this Absentee Ballot may vote this ballot by mail or in person at the meeting or polling place, but not both".
- 3.9.2 Absentee ballots shall not be opened or counted until the day of the election.
- 3.9.3 An absentee ballot shall not be cast by any person except the Owner Member to whom it was issued.
- 3.9.4 An absentee ballot shall be provided at the request of any Owner Member, or the Governing Board may provide for mailing of absentee ballots to all Owner Members.

Section 3.10 MAIL-IN-VOTE:

- 3.10.1 A majority of the Governing Board may authorize use an implementation of a mail-in ballot for the election of Directors or issues it deems appropriate.
 - 3.10.2 When mail-in ballots are authorized, said ballots shall be prepared and mailed to the Owner Members at the address of record not less than twenty-two (22) calendar days prior to the date of the election. The ballot shall state a cutoff date for its return. Ballots received after the cutoff date shall not be counted. The determination of eligibility and tabulation of votes shall proceed under the supervision of the Election Committee.

Section 3.11 OTHER METHODS OF VOTING:

A voice vote, standing vote, show of hands, or electronic voting of Owner Members shall prevail on all matters of business, except any of the following items, which require a vote by written ballot:

- 3.11.1 The election or removal of Governing Board Directors;
- 3.11.2 Matters on which the majority of the Governing Board requests a vote by written ballot;
- 3.11.3 Matters on which a vote by written ballot is requested by a majority vote of the eligible Owner Members attending the meeting;
- 3.11.4 All matters for which an absentee ballot has been issued and returned; or
- 3.11.5 The Governing Board may provide for voting by other forms of delivery even when written ballots are otherwise to be utilized, including voting electronically, emailing ballots, or faxing ballots.
 - 3.11.5.1 If electronic voting is utilized for those Owner members who do not have computer access, in-person voting will be provided at a designated polling location.
 - 3.11.5.2 Absentee ballots will be available for those requiring them. Electronic voting will be deemed to constitute a written ballot or ballot vote for purposes of these Bylaws.

Section 3.12 BALLOT VOTE ON REFERENDA:

The procedure for conducting a ballot vote by Owner Members on matters other than the annual election of Governing Board Directors will be as directed by the Governing Board.

ARTICLE 04 GOVERNING BOARD

Section 4.01 COMPOSITION:

The nine (9) Directors of the Governing Board elected by Owner Members or appointed by the Governing Board as hereinafter provided shall comprise the total membership of the Governing Board.

Section 4.02 SELECTION OF GOVERNING BOARD CANDIDATES:

- 4.2.1 Any Owner Member in good standing who is available on a year round basis for participation in the business affairs of the Association, in accordance with the section defining "Director Meeting Attendance," may become a candidate for election to the Governing Board by filing with the elected Secretary of the Governing Board or through the Executive Assistant, not later than the first business day of January each year, each of the following:
 - 4.2.1.1 A petition, on the official Association form, signed by at least two hundred (200) Owner Members in good standing, with an "Affidavit of Circulator" on the reverse side of each page of the petition signature page "Appendix 1 & 1a"; and
 - 4.2.1.2 A typed résumé of not more than five hundred (500) words completed by the candidate.
- 4.2.2 Owner Members interested in being a candidate may pick up official candidate packets, which include the required petition forms, on or after the first business day of November.
- 4.2.3 Upon filing of the petition and résumé by the candidate, the Secretary of the Association or Executive Assistant, shall certify the candidate's good standing and verify the petition's signatures.
 - 4.2.3.1 Upon certification and verification, the Secretary of the Association shall report to the President the names of all members who have qualified as candidates.
 - 4.2.3.2 The Secretary of the Association shall ensure that names of all certified candidates are posted on the Association bulletin boards and on the Association Website, and shall publish such information in a general press release issued no later than the first business day of February.

Section 4.03 ELECTION OF CANDIDATES:

The election of Governing Board Directors shall be held during the month of March and all polling places shall be located on Association property. Each year the specific date of the election shall be designated by the Governing Board at its Regular October Governing Board meeting.

- 4.3.1 <u>UNCONTESTED ELECTIONS</u>: In the absence of more than a single candidate for each regular full term Governing Board position to be filled, and there are no partial terms to be filled, no ballot shall be cast and the candidates shall be declared to have been elected.
- 4.3.2 <u>CONTESTED ELECTIONS</u>: Voting for the Directors of the Governing Board shall be by secret ballot and absentee balloting shall be allowed in accord with Section 3.9 hereof. In addition, other methods

of voting, in accord with Section 3.11, such as electronic voting, email ballots and faxing of ballots may be allowed at the discretion of the Governing Board.

- 4.3.2.1 Cumulative voting for the election of a Governing Board Director shall not be permitted.
- 4.3.2.2 At the discretion of the Governing Board, selected election services of Maricopa County may be utilized, or electronic voting offered through a service provider.
- 4.3.2.3 Candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected to the open full-term positions on the Governing Board. At the time of the election, if there is any open position(s) to be filled for a partial term, the person(s) having the next highest number of votes shall fill the partial term(s) after the full terms have been filled.
 - 4.3.2.3.1 A tie vote for the final position shall be decided by lot.
- 4.3.2.4 Voting shall proceed under supervision of a special Election Committee composed of not less than five (5) Owner Members who are appointed by the President with the consent of the Governing Board.
 - 4.3.2.4.1 No member of the Election Committee shall be a member of the Governing Board, candidate for the Governing Board, a member of a Director's immediate family or living in the same household as a Director.
- 4.3.2.5 At least two (2) members of the Election Committee shall be present at the polling place at all times during voting. They shall determine eligibility of all voters, issue all official ballots and witness the casting of the ballots. Other methodology may be determined for electronic voting.
- 4.3.2.6 All absentee ballot boxes or early electronic votes cast shall remain sealed until the date set for regular ballots to be cast. On that day, at least two (2) Election Committee members shall open the sealed ballot boxes and prepare the ballots for the counting process prior to the closing of the polls. In the case of electronic voting, the selected vendor shall release the results to the Election Committee in a manner determined by the Board.
- 4.3.2.7 After counting all ballots, the results shall be certified by the Election Chairperson to the Governing Board President or designee and, within one day following the election, the results shall be officially posted on the Association Website and bulletin boards, and a press release shall be issued.
- 4.3.2.8 Any Owner Member may observe the counting of the absentee ballots.
- 4.3.2.9 Electronic voting may be tabulated digitally.
- 4.3.2.10 Following the ballot count, all ballots will be sealed and stored for a period of not less than one year in the custody of the Secretary of the Governing Board (per Arizona law, A.R.S. 33-1812(A)(7)).

Section 4.04 TERM OF OFFICE:

The term of office for a Director of the Governing Board shall be three (3) years commencing on the first day of July. Terms for the directors shall be staggered so as to allow three directors to commence their new terms each year.

- 4.4.1 Installation of a newly elected or appointed Governing Board Director is accomplished when a Director-elect accepts and signs the "Oath of Office" set forth in Appendix 2 of these Bylaws.
- 4.4.2 An Owner Members who has been elected to serve as a Director may not serve consecutive terms, either elected or appointed for more than five years until such Owner Member has been absent from the Board for at least one year.

Section 4.05 PLACE OF GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS:

The Governing Board may hold its meetings at any Association or public facility within Sun City West as the Governing Board may determine.

4.5.1 These meetings, including Regular Governing Board Meetings, Special Meetings, Workshops, and General Manager Operations Meetings, may be held by means of telephone conference calls, video conferencing or similar communication methods by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear and talk to each other. Participation in a meeting in such manner shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Section 4.06 REGULAR GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS:

Regular Governing Board Meetings and Workshops shall be held monthly except in the months of July and August. The Regular Governing Board meeting in June shall be combined with the Annual Meeting of the Owner Members.

- 4.6.1 Notice of the time and place of Regular Governing Board Meetings, Special Meetings and Workshops shall be posted prominently within the Association's Facilities, on the Association's Website, and shall be communicated to Governing Board Directors not less than four (4) calendar days prior to the meeting. A preliminary agenda will be posted no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. The Officers of the Association may establish an agenda for the Regular Governing Board meetings each shall include items for consideration, subjects for discussion, and proposed actions.
- 4.6.2 Notice of Regular Governing Board Meetings and Workshops need not be given to any Governing Board Director who has signed a waiver of notice or a written consent to hold such meetings.
 - 4.6.2.1 Attendance of a Governing Board Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting except when a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
- 4.6.3 All meetings of the Governing Board, except for Executive Sessions, shall be open to all Owner Members of the Association or any person designated by the Member in writing as the Owner Member's representative.
- 4.6.4 Owner Members may participate in the discussion of any motion before the Governing Board prior to a vote thereon. Votes shall only be taken at Regular Governing Board meetings, Special Meetings, and Emergency Meetings.
- 4.6.5 The Governing Board may, with the approval of a majority of its Directors present at a meeting in which a quorum for the transaction of business has been established, adjourn a meeting and reconvene in executive session, but only if that closed portion of the meeting is limited to consideration of one or more of the following:

- 4.6.5.1 Legal advice from an attorney for the Governing Board or the Association. On final resolution of any matter for which the Governing Board received legal advice or that concerned pending or contemplated litigation, the Governing Board may disclose information about that matter in an open meeting except for matters that are required to remain confidential by the terms of a settlement agreement or judgment;
- 4.6.5.2 Pending or contemplated litigation;
- 4.6.5.3 Personal, health or financial information about an individual member of the Association, an individual employee of the Association or an individual employee of a contractor for the Association, including records of the association directly related to the personal, health or financial information about an individual member of the Association, an individual employee of the Association or an individual employee of a contractor for the Association; or
- 4.6.5.4 Matters relating to the job performance of, compensation of, health records of, or specific complaints against an individual employee of the Association or an individual employee of a contractor of the Association who works under the direction of the Association.
- 4.6.6 The nature of any and all business to be considered in Executive Session shall first be announced in open session by citing the applicable section of Section 4.6.5.

Section 4.07 GENERAL MANAGER OPERATIONS MEETINGS:

The purpose of this meeting is for the General Manager to provide to the available Directors a written report regarding Association business and operations; provide status on budgets and projects; discuss plans and schedules. These meetings are also for the purpose of the Governing Board setting agendas for upcoming Board meetings, identifying issues that need to be discussed in a Regular Meeting or Workshop, reviewing recommendations from committees, reviewing progress related to unfinished business and conducting hearings at the request of an owner member. Notice of the time and place of the General Manager Operations Meeting shall be posted prominently within the Association's Facilities, on the Association's Website, and shall be communicated to Governing Board Directors not less than four (4) calendar days prior to the meeting. A preliminary agenda will be posted no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. While the purpose of this meeting is to discuss business related to operating the Association, a quorum is not required. The only time a quorum is required is when it has been posted that the Board will be adjourning into a Special Governing Board Meeting, or into an Executive Session.

Section 4.08 WORKSHOP:

Workshop meetings of the Governing Board shall be held as determined by the Governing Board. These meetings are intended to provide the Directors with the opportunity to discuss issues of importance that may be acted on at a future Regular Governing Board Meeting and to provide the residents the opportunity to provide input.

Section 4.09 SPECIAL GOVERNING BOARD MEETINGS:

Special meetings of the Governing Board may be called by written notice signed by the President or by any two (2) Directors other than the President.

4.9.1 The notice to Owner Members shall be posted using the same methods prescribed for regular meetings, specifying the time and place of the meeting and the nature of the special business to be considered, not less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the scheduled meeting.

- 4.9.2 Except as otherwise provided herein, notice of each meeting shall be provided to all Governing Board Directors either by telephone, e-mail or other form of recorded communication, or delivered personally not less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the scheduled time of the meeting.
- 4.9.3 Notice of Special Meetings need not be given to any Governing Board Director who has signed a waiver of notice or a written consent to hold such meetings.
 - 4.9.3.1 Attendance of a Director at a Special Meeting of the Governing Board shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting except when a Director attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
- 4.9.4. Special Governing Board Meetings shall be open to Owner Members with the exception of Special Board Meetings (Executive Session).
- 4.9.5 The minutes of emergency meetings shall state the reason(s) necessitating the emergency meeting and shall be read and approved at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board per Arizona statute A.R.S 33-1804(E)(2).

Section 4.10 DIRECTOR MEETING ATTENDANCE:

Directors shall attend all duly called Regular Governing Board Meetings, Workshops, and Special Meetings of the Governing Board either in person, by telephone conference call, video conferencing or other communication methods by which all participants can hear and talk to each other.

- 4.10.1 A Director's absence may be excused by a majority of the Governing Board.
- 4.10.2 If a Director has three consecutive unexcused absences, that position shall automatically become vacant and a replacement may be appointed by the Governing Board in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 4.11 GOVERNING BOARD QUORUM AND EMERGENCY MEETINGS:

A majority of the number of Directors elected by the Owner Members or appointed by the Governing Board shall be present at any meeting of the Governing Board in order to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at such meeting.

- 4.11.1 In the absence of a quorum at any Governing Board meeting, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to another time or place, not later than thirty (30) days without additional notice other than announcement at the meeting.
- 4.11.2 In the event of an emergency as hereinafter defined and a quorum not being available even after diligent attempts have been made to contact each Director, the Governing Board quorum shall temporarily be redefined to mean not less than three (3) Directors of the Governing Board.
 - 4.11.2.1 For the purpose of this section, an emergency shall be defined as an unexpected serious occurrence or situation urgently requiring immediate Governing Board action.
 - 4.11.2.2 The reduced quorum of Directors shall provide a written account of such action to the Governing Board within two (2) calendar days.

Section 4.12 MANNER OF ACTION:

The vote of a majority of the Directors present at any Regular, Special or Emergency meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Governing Board, except as may otherwise be provided in these Bylaws and Arizona law.

4.12.1 The Directors shall act as a Governing Board and shall have no authority as individuals to take or direct any actions on behalf of or to financially obligate the Association, unless specifically authorized in these Bylaws or by the Governing Board.

Section 4.13 MEETING DELEGATIONS:

In the event the President is absent from a Governing Board meeting, the Vice President shall preside.

- 4.13.1 In the absence of the President and Vice President, a Director chosen by a majority vote of the Board shall preside.
- 4.13.2 In the absence of the Secretary from a Board meeting a Secretary Pro Tem or any other person appointed by the Chairperson shall act as Secretary and keep the minutes of the meeting.

Section 4.14 RESIGNATIONS:

Any member of the Governing Board may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or Secretary of the Governing Board.

- 4.14.1 Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if the time when it shall become effective is not specified therein, it shall take effect immediately upon its receipt by the President or the Secretary.
- 4.14.2 Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 4.15 COMPENSATION AND REIMBURSEMENT:

No Director of the Governing Board shall receive compensation of any kind for his or her services without the approval of the Owner Members.

4.15.1 The Governing Board may cause a Director to be reimbursed for expenses incurred in conducting the business of the Association.

Section 4.16 REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD:

Notwithstanding any provision of the Association's Governing Documents to the contrary, the Owner Members, by a majority vote of those Owner Members entitled to vote and voting on the matter at a meeting of the Owner Members called pursuant to this Section at which a quorum is present, may remove any Director of the Governing Board with or without cause. For the purposes of calling for removal of a Director of the Governing Board, the following shall apply (or as otherwise provided in Arizona law):

- 4.16.1 On receipt of a petition that calls for removal of a Director of the Governing Board that is signed by at least one thousand (1,000) Owner Members who are eligible to vote, the Governing Board shall call and provide written notice of a Special Meeting of Owner Members as prescribed in these Bylaws;
- 4.16.2 The Special Meeting for the recall vote shall be called, noticed, and held within thirty (30) days after the receipt of the petition at the Governing Board office;

- 4.16.2.1 For purposes of a Special Meeting of Owner Members called pursuant to this subsection, a quorum is present if at least one thousand (1,000) Owner Members eligible to vote are present at the meeting in person or by absentee ballot duly cast for that Special Meeting.
- 4.16.2.2 If a civil action is filed regarding the removal of a Governing Board Director, the prevailing party in the civil action shall be awarded its reasonable attorney fees and costs;
- 4.16.2.3 The Governing Board shall retain all documents and other records relating to the proposed removal of the Director of the Governing Board for at least one year after the date of the special meeting for recall vote and shall permit Owner Members to inspect these documents and records;
- 4.16.2.4 A petition that recalls for the removal of the same Director of the Governing Board shall not be submitted more than once during each term of office for that Director, except for cause; and
- 4.16.2.5 A Director removed by a recall vote may not be appointed to fill that vacancy.
- 4.16.2.6 Per A.R.S. 33-1813(A)(6) and (7), if less than a majority of Directors is removed, the vacancies shall be filled pursuant to 4.17. If a majority of the Directors are removed, an election for the replacement of the removed Directors at a separate meeting of the Members shall be held not later than 30 days after the meeting where the Directors were removed.
- 4.16.3 In addition to the foregoing, in the event a Director does not maintain each of the three qualifications for office set forth below, the position of the Director shall automatically become vacant and a replacement may be appointed by the Governing Board in accordance with the Bylaws;
 - 4.16.3.1 The three qualifications Directors must maintain during their entire term of office are as follows;
 - 4.16.3.1.1 The Director must be, and must remain, qualified to be an Owner Member of the Association.
 - 4.16.3.1.2 The Director must be, and must remain, an Owner Member of the Association in good standing as the term is defined in Bylaw 2.05 (Privileges and Rights)/Sections 2.5.1 and 2.5.6.
 - 4.16.3.1.3 The Director must be any Owner Member in good standing who is available on a year-round basis for participation in the business affairs of the Association, in accordance with the section defining "Director Meeting Attendance." (See Bylaw 4.10)
 - 4.16.3.2 In the event that a Director is alleged to have not maintained all three qualifications of office, said Director may be called to account by any Owner Member before a Special Meeting of the Governing Board to determine whether all three qualifications are being maintained. Notification of the Special Meeting will be in accordance with these Bylaws together with a registered letter mailed to the challenged Director.

- 4.16.3.2.1 If the challenged Director notifies the Governing Board that he or she acknowledges the deficiency and cannot correct it, the Governing Board may use the Special Meeting to appoint a replacement.
- 4.16.3.2.2 At the Special Meeting, the challenged Director shall be given every opportunity to demonstrate that his or her qualifications to remain a Director have been satisfied or to show what is being done or has been done to rectify any acknowledged deficiency. If, as indicated by a vote of the remaining Governing Board members, six of the members find that one or more of the challenged Director's qualifications are not satisfied, the challenged Director shall be deemed removed.

Section 4.17 FILLING VACANCIES ON THE GOVERNING BOARD:

Unless otherwise provided by Arizona law, any vacancy on the Governing Board may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Governing Board Directors, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining Governing Director. The sole Director left would then select another Director; then these two together would select the third; and the three would then select the fourth; and proceed in this manner until there are once again nine (9) Directors. (Policy L9)

- 4.17.1 Any Governing Board Director so chosen shall hold office through the next June 30th.
- 4.17.2 If by reason of death, resignation, or otherwise, the Association has no Governing Board Director in office, any Owner Member of the Association may call a Special Meeting of Association Owner Members for the purpose of electing Governing Board Directors.
- 4.17.3 Should an elected Governing Board Director fail to assume the office by reason of death, disability or declination prior to the date of installation of the term to which elected, then the candidate in such election receiving the next highest number of votes shall be deemed to have been elected.
 - 4.17.3.1 The Governing Board shall appoint a Director if no such runner-up is available for office and that Director shall serve through the next June 30th.

Section 4.18 GENERAL POWERS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD:

The Governing Board shall have the power to do all of the following;

- 4.18.1 Establish and publish goals, policies, rules and regulations;
 - 4.18.1.1 Notice of additions to or changes in goals, policies, rules and regulations shall be conspicuously posted on Association bulletin boards, the Association's official website and in the Association's newsletter. Advance notice of changes is not required.
- 4.18.2 Provide oversight of the administration and operation of the Association;
- 4.18.3 Hold and bear the fiduciary responsibilities for the preservation of the assets of the Association;
- 4.18.4 Exercise all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to this Association and not otherwise reserved to the membership;
- 4.18.5 Establish penalties, including but not limited to fines, probation and/or suspension of membership privileges for infractions of Bylaws, policy statements, rules or regulations, as limited by the Governing

Documents:

- 4.18.6 Employ a General Manager in accordance with the Association Bylaws;
- 4.18.7 Establish all dues and fees as part of the Annual Financial Plan;
 - 4.18.7.1 Fees other than for Elective Memberships and Tenant Activity Cards, may be amended by the Governing Board provided a thirty (30) day notice is given to the Owner Members;
- 4.18.8 Levy Owner Member approved Special Assessments to be collected for each residential unit, and establish collection policies therefore;
- 4.18.9 Perfect and foreclose a lien against any property for which the Owner Member Dues and/or Special Assessments are not paid, or to bring an action at law against the Owner Member;
- 4.18.10 Pay any taxes and assessments which are, or could become, a lien on the facilities of the Association or any portion thereof;
- 4.18.11 Ensure that goods and services for the facilities, grounds, and interests of the Association are provided in a timely and professional manner;
- 4.18.12 Elect officers of the Governing Board;
- 4.18.13 Delegate its powers to the officers of the Governing Board or employees of the Association as authorized by these Bylaws, provided that the activities and affairs of the Association shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised, under the ultimate direction of the Governing Board;
- 4.18.14 Fill vacancies on the Governing Board as authorized in these Bylaws;
- 4.18.15 Establish and maintain a Reserve Fund available to all Divisions of the Association, comprised of reserve allocations and retained earnings from the divisions, revenue from the Asset Preservation Fees, and revenue from the Facilities Investment Fees. Reserve funds shall be used for capital expenditures only.
- 4.18.16 Enforce, by any proceeding at law or in equity, all restrictions, covenants, reservations, liens, and charges, now or hereinafter imposed by the provisions of the Declarations in any court of appropriate jurisdiction. Failure of the Governing Board to enforce any covenant or restriction contained in the Declarations shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so thereafter;
- 4.18.17 Determine in what manner and to what extent senior non-residents of Sun City West living in neighboring communities may be extended Association bowling privileges;
- 4.18.18 Determine in what manner and to what extent non-residents of Sun City West living in neighboring communities may be extended Association golf privileges;
- 4.18.19 Establish and publish policies, rules and regulations, pertaining to the manner and extent to which tournaments, special events, and special programs involving non-residents, may be held within Sun City West under the auspices of the Association. These tournaments, special events, and special programs shall only be permitted if

they do not have any substantial or material adverse impact on the use of Association facilities by the

Owner Members; and

4.18.20 Exercise such other powers as may be granted to the Governing Board by the Association's Governing Documents and the Laws of the State of Arizona.

Section 4.19 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNING BOARD:

The duties and fiduciary responsibilities of the Governing Board shall include but are not limited to the following:

- 4.19.1 Ensuring that the Recreation, Golf, and Bowling Divisions are operated and financially accounted for as independent Divisions;
- 4.19.2 Ensuring that the Reserve Fund is used only for capital improvements of and for the Association;
- 4.19.3 Establishing the qualifications and overseeing the performance of the General Manager;
- 4.19.4 Establishing such procedures, forming such committees, and retaining such personnel as may be necessary to enforce the Declarations;
 - 4.19.4.1 A written and signed request from an Owner Member to enforce the Declarations shall be delivered to the Governing Board;
- 4.19.5 Ensuring that adequate property, business, and liability insurance is maintained on property owned by the Association, and that adequate Directors and Officers liability coverage is provided for Governing Board Directors, Association Officers, Chartered Club Officers, Chartered Club Committee members, or Governing Board Committee members, and Association employees;
- 4.19.6 Ensuring that Association facilities are properly maintained;
- 4.19.7 Approving the Annual Financial Plan for the following fiscal year by the affirmative vote of at least six (6) of the Governing Board Directors, prior to the last day of May;
 - 4.19.7.1 Any Owner Member may purchase a copy of the Annual Financial Plan at the Association's Administrative Office:
- 4.19.8 Approving, no later than the last day of January of each year, the engagement of a reputable accounting firm to conduct the annual financial audit of the Association;
- 4.19.9 Ensuring that an annual independent auditor's financial report is completed in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS), within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days following the close of each fiscal year;
 - 4.19.9.1 The results of the audit shall be presented to the Governing Board for acceptance no later than the last day of November;
- 4.19.10 Approving the transfer of cash flow funds, in accordance with the Association's Reserves Policy, no later than the Regular Governing Board Meeting in December;
- 4.19.11 The Audit Report shall include, but is not limited to, the following:

- 4.19.11.1 A balance sheet as of the end of the fiscal year;
- 4.19.11.2 An operating income statement for the fiscal year;
- 4.19.11.3 A statement of cash flow for the fiscal year;
- 4.19.11.4 A Letter to Management that identifies financial activities that require remedial action; and
- 4.19.11.5 A review of financial activities to determine if they were in compliance with the corresponding Association's Financial Policies.
- 4.19.12 Maintaining open lines of communication with the Association membership, and ensuring that an Association newsletter is published on a regular basis;
- 4.19.13 Maintaining the records of the Association, including without limitation, all Owner Member, Governing Board and Standing Committee meeting minutes; and
- 4.19.14 Performing, such other duties as may be established from time to time or as set forth in the Association's Governing Documents.

Section 4.20 RESTRICTIONS ON GOVERNING BOARD POWERS:

The Governing Board shall be prohibited from taking any of the following actions, except with the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the Owner Members voting at any annual or special meeting of the Owner Members:

- 4.20.1 Entering into or authorizing any of the actions prohibited under Section 9.2.4 hereof;
- 4.20.2 Authorizing, in any single fiscal year, non-budgeted single or aggregate expenditures for capital acquisitions and improvements to the Association facilities in excess of two (2) percent of the gross consolidated revenues of the Association's current budget. Because no annual budget can anticipate every single capital item that may fall in a given year, a capital expenditure for major repair or replacement arising from an emergency (as defined under Bylaw 4.11.2.1) may exceed the non-budgeted expenditure limitation of this bylaw section by Board action alone, with the Board utilizing the Reserve Fund.
- 4.20.3 Establishing Annual Owner Member Dues, or Associate and Landlord Fees which are more than fifteen percent (15%) greater than the same Annual Dues or Fees for the immediately preceding fiscal year;
- 4.20.4 Selling, in any single fiscal year, capital assets of the Association having an aggregate fair market value greater than one percent (1%) of the gross consolidated revenues of the Association's current budget.
- 4.20.5 Entering into a contract with a third person wherein the third person will furnish goods or services to the Association for a term longer than one (1) year with the following exceptions:
 - 4.20.5.1 An employment contract for a General Manager;

4.20.5.2 A construction contract;

- 4.20.5.3 A contract with a public utility company regulated by the Arizona Corporation Commission, provided, however, that the term of the contract shall not exceed the shortest term for which the supplier will contract at the regulated rate;
- 4.20.5.4 Service Agreements for communications and computer equipment not to exceed three (3) years duration;
- 4.20.5.5 Pre-paid casualty and/or liability insurance policies not to exceed three (3) years duration, provided that the policy permits short rate cancellation by the insured without penalty;
- 4.20.5.6 A Pest Control Contract not to exceed agreed upon warranty period; and
- 4.20.5.7 A lease for office or maintenance equipment for a period not to exceed five (5) years.
- 4.20.5.8 A financial audit contract for services for a period not to exceed five (5) years.
- 4.20.5.9 Employee health benefit insurance contract for a period not to exceed two (2) years.

Section 4.21 BONDING/INSURANCE:

Governing Board Directors, Governing Board Committee members, Association employees who are in any way involved in the handling of Association funds, and the paid managerial personnel of the Association, shall be bonded or shall be covered by appropriate fiduciary insurance, in a sum to be determined by the Governing Board.

ARTICLE 5 OFFICERS OF THE ASSOCIATION

Section 5.01 ELECTION OF OFFICERS:

The officers of the Association shall be a President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer and they shall also act as officers of the Governing Board.

- 5.1.1 Following the annual election of Directors, the Directors remaining in office after June 30th of each year, along with the newly elected Directors, shall have a special organizational meeting for the purpose of electing the Governing Board's new officers.
 - 5.1.1.1 This meeting shall be no later than seven days prior to the annual Governing Board meeting in June.
 - 5.1.1.2 The term of the new officers will become effective on the first day of July following their election.
 - 5.1.1.3 The officers shall serve until their successors are elected and installed.
 - 5.1.1.4 Officers are not prohibited from succeeding themselves in office.
- 5.1.2 At its discretion, the Governing Board may elect from the Board Directors additional Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers.

Section 5.02 PRESIDENT:

The President shall preside at and conduct all Governing Board meetings by a formal order of business and shall act as Chairperson of the Governing Board.

- 5.2.1 The President shall have general supervision over and direction of the affairs of the Association in accordance with the Association's Governing Documents and shall have authority to administer all matters not otherwise expressly delegated to the General Manager.
- 5.2.2 The President shall appoint committee Chairpersons with the advice and consent of the Governing Board, except that the President-elect shall appoint committee Chairpersons to assume office on the first day of July with the advice and consent of the Directors who will be in office on July 1.
- 5.2.3 The President may call any special meeting of the Owner Members of the Association and/or the Governing Board.
- 5.2.4 Upon approval by the Governing Board, the President shall execute bonds, mortgages and other contracts and cause the corporate seal of the Association to be affixed to any instrument which requires it, except where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed, and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated in writing by the Governing Board to some other officer or agent of the Association.
- 5.2.5 The President is the immediate supervisor of the Governing Board's manager and shall perform an annual performance appraisal.

Section 5.03 VICE PRESIDENT:

The Vice President shall have such powers and perform such duties as the President or the Governing Board may from time-to-time prescribe and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws.

5.3.1 At the written request of the President, or in case of the President's inability to act, the Vice President shall perform the duties of the President and shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President.

Section 5.04 SECRETARY:

The Secretary shall ensure that a permanent record is kept of all the proceedings of the meetings of the Owner Members and the Governing Board.

- 5.4.1 The Secretary shall ensure that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law.
- 5.4.2 The Secretary shall ensure that the provisions of these Bylaws pertaining to inspection of Association records and reports are carried out in a timely manner.
- 5.4.3 The Secretary shall ensure that the Company in charge of the election secures the results for a period of not less than thirty (30) days after an election.
- 5.4.4 The Secretary shall ensure verification of all signatures on petitions and certifying candidates for election to the office of Director.

Section 5.05 TREASURER:

The Treasurer as the representative of the Governing Board shall have responsibility for overseeing all funds and securities, official records, documents, ledgers and accounts involving the financial business of the Association and ensure regular reporting to the Board.

- 5.5.1 All financial records and documents shall be kept and maintained at the Association's Administration office.
- 5.5.2 The Treasurer shall ensure that all funds in cash deposit accounts are deposited in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC insured banking institutions.
- 5.5.3 The Treasurer shall ensure that all invested funds are held in accounts that are Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC) members.
 - 5.5.3.1 The Treasurer shall ensure that a professional investment advisor manages the investment portfolio based on the criteria set forth in the investment policy.
 - 5.5.3.2 Investments shall be limited to conservative and prudent investments as follows:
 - FDIC insured investments -Instruments backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government
 - Mutual Funds and Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) which invest in the following:
 - Domestic and International securities
 - High credit quality investment grade bonds rated by Moody's, Standard & Poors and/or Fitch rating agencies.
- 5.5.4 The Treasurer shall ensure that approved Governing Board financial policies establish guidelines for all cash and investment accounts and that the financial policies are reviewed at least every three years.

Section 5.06 REMOVAL OF OFFICERS:

Any officer may be removed from office by the majority vote of the Governing Board at any regular or special meeting called for that purpose whenever the Governing Board determines that such removal serves the best interests of the Association.

- 5.6.1 Any officer proposed to be removed shall be entitled to at least three (3) consecutive calendar days notice in writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the meeting of the Governing Board at which such removal is to be voted upon and shall be entitled to appear before and be heard by the Governing Board at such meeting.
- 5.6.2 An officer who is removed shall remain a Director of the Governing Board unless also removed from the Board in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 5.07 OFFICER VACANCIES:

Should any officer position become vacant by death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, or any other cause, the Governing Board shall elect a Director of the Governing Board to fill such vacancy.

5.7.1 The Director so elected shall hold office until the next June 30th unless removed or replaced in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 5.08 MULTIPLE OFFICES:

No Director shall hold more than one officer position concurrently.

ARTICLE 6 COMMITTEES

Section 6.01 ORGANIZATION OF COMMITTEES:

Committees shall be established by the Governing Board to assist the Board in performing its duties. In this respect, Committees recommend policy changes, analyze problems, and review operations as required to support the Board's oversight responsibilities. Committees also support the General Manager by providing analysis and recommendations based on their expertise in specific areas.

- 6.1.1 Committees have no direct decision making authority and are limited to presenting options and recommendations to the Governing Board and/or General Manager.
- 6.1.2 The President may, with the consent of the Governing Board, establish such special committees as they shall determine.
 - 6.1.2.1 Any special committee shall be formed for a specific purpose and for a defined period of time not to exceed one (1) year but, with the approval of the Governing Board, may be extended as needed.
- 6.1.3 A Director of the Governing Board shall chair each standing committee and may chair special committees.
- 6.1.4 Chairpersons of Standing Committees are appointed by the President-elect with the advice and consent of the directors who will be in office on July 1 for a period of not more than one (1) year commencing on the first day of July and ending on the last day of June of the following year and shall serve at the pleasure of the Governing Board. These appointments will be announced at the June Annual governing board meeting, provided, however, that nothing shall preclude the filling of vacancies at any time by the then current President.
- 6.1.5 Committee meetings shall be open to Owner Members in the same manner as Governing Board meetings.
- 6.1.6 Employees of the Association may serve in an advisory capacity to any committee, with the consent of the Chairperson.
- 6.1.7 Consultants may be hired from time to time to assist the Chairperson subject to authorization by a majority of the Governing Board.
- 6.1.8 All Directors of the Governing Board shall be ex officio members of all committees but shall not have voting privileges in Committees of which they are not an appointed member.

Section 6.02 STANDING COMMITTEES:

6.2.1 <u>GENERAL PROVISIONS</u>: Standing Committees include: Sports Pavilion and Bowling, Budget and Finance, Chartered Clubs, Golf, Properties, and any other Standing Committees established by the Governing Board. For specific current information on these Committees, see Governing Board Policy C03.

- 6.2.1.1 The Chairperson of each standing committee shall select the other committee members. Standing committees shall have no fewer than five (5) members, including the Chairperson, all of whom shall be Owner Members or Associate Members of the Association.
- 6.2.1.2 The Chairperson shall consider technical qualifications and related experience in selecting committee members.
- 6.2.1.3 The Chairperson of each committee shall furnish a written membership list to the Governing Board Manager and shall further update the membership list throughout the year as changes occur.
- 6.2.1.4 Directors of the Governing Board may serve concurrently on a maximum of two standing committees.
- 6.2.1.5 The Chairperson shall conduct a review of all the policies related to their specific committee and shall report their recommendations to the Governing Board by the January workshop.
- 6.2.1.6 All recommendations from Committees to the Governing Board or General Manager shall be in writing, dated and signed by the Chairperson.
- 6.2.1.7 The Chairperson shall make recommendations to the General Manager and Governing Board regarding capital equipment and projects in writing by December 1, each year.
- 6.2.1.8 The chairperson shall provide orientation for committee members including the charge of the committee, expected meeting guidelines, committee history and any other information deemed valuable by the committee chairperson.

ARTICLE 7 GENERAL MANAGER

Section 7.01 GENERAL:

The General Manager shall be a natural person.

- 7.1.1 The principal purpose and function of the General Manager shall be to implement the policies of the Association as established by the Governing Board, to act upon and fulfill such powers and duties as are imposed on the General Manager by the Association's Governing Documents, and to manage and administer the operations of the Association.
- 7.1.2 The General Manager shall report to the Governing Board through its President, but nothing shall preclude any Director from reasonably conferring directly with the General Manager.

Section 7.02 APPOINTMENT AND QUALIFICATIONS:

The President, with the consent of the Governing Board, shall establish a Selection Committee and chairperson for the purpose of identifying potential candidates for the position of General Manager. The Selection Committee shall consist of no fewer than seven (7) Owner Members of whom not more than two may be members of the Governing Board and an Owner Member who is not a Director of the Governing Board shall serve as Chairperson.

- 7.2.1 This committee shall continue until its original charge has been accomplished or until Governing Board action is taken to rescind the Committee or change the membership of the committee.
- 7.2.2 The Selection Committee shall submit no fewer than three (3) qualified candidates to the Governing Board for its review and selection.
- 7.2.3 The appointment of the General Manager requires an affirmative vote of six (6) or more of the Governing Board Directors.

Section 7.03 POWERS AND DUTIES:

The General Manager shall implement policies, administrative rules and operating procedures, and develop programs consistent with the Association's Governing Documents.

- 7.3.1 The powers and duties of the General Manager are as follows:
 - 7.3.1.1 Administer and manage the Association's staff to efficiently accomplish the policies, goals and directives of the Governing Board, including the policy that the interests of both the Association and its employees are best served by dealing directly with one another and not through third parties. The General Manager must act consistent with this policy at all times; accordingly, he or she may not voluntarily recognize any union or other third party as a representative of any employees, nor may he or she negotiate the terms of any collective bargaining agreement with a union or other employee representative without the express prior approval of, and direction from, the Governing Board. In providing such approvals and in giving such directions to the General Manager, the Governing Board will comply with the Association's obligations under federal and state law.
 - 7.3.1.2 Administer and supervise the Association's Human Resources Program;
 - 7.3.1.2.1 Review employee compensation and benefit policies annually, and submit recommendations to the Governing Board for approval;
 - 7.3.1.3 Formulate and implement a succession/replacement plan to ensure effective management continuity at all levels of the organization, both short and long term;
 - 7.3.1.4 Prepare a proposed Annual Financial Plan for the Association to be presented to the Governing Board by the first day of April;
 - 7.3.1.5 Ensure that accounting records of the Association are maintained in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP);
 - 7.3.1.5.1 Prepare cash flow statements, operating budgets and capital expenditure budgets for the Association;
 - 7.3.1.5.2 Provide recommendations and justification for adjustments in annual dues, fees, rental charges and special assessments; and
 - 7.3.1.5.3 Notwithstanding any other provision contained in these Bylaws, the General Manager's spending authority to make non-budgeted emergency repairs to Association facilities shall be limited to one-quarter of one percent (0.25%) of the preceding fiscal year's total gross revenues. In the event additional expenditures are needed, approvals established by Governing Board policy are required.

- 7.3.1.6 Develop, recommend, and maintain a Five (5) Year Plan for the Association to ensure the cost-effective and proper maintenance and operation of the Association's facilities; establish reasonably detailed plans relating to future operations and the proper and timely repair/replacement of Association facilities and equipment for Governing Board approval;
- 7.3.1.7 Establish and implement, within limits established by Governing Board policies or authority delegated by the Governing Board, operating instructions and procedural guidelines for internal controls, routine operations, marketing, and resident programs with timely notification to the Governing Board;
- 7.3.1.8 Prepare and present at the General Manager Operations Meeting a written report which shall include changes in the status of the Association's operations, facilities and equipment, financial condition, human resource matters, and special projects;
- 7.3.1.9 Make membership presentations in such a manner and on such matters as determined by the Governing Board;
- 7.3.1.10 Approve club charters and ensure that all Chartered Clubs operate in a manner to protect the Association, its property and equipment, to provide safe operating conditions and facilities, and to offer self-directed leisure programs;
- 7.3.1.11 Take appropriate or necessary interim action in the absence of policy or directive established by the Governing Board and notify the Governing Board within three (3) business days;
- 7.3.1.12 Sign a contract for budgeted items not to exceed fifty thousand and no/100 dollars (\$50,000.00) and for the duration of not more than one year;
- 7.3.1.13 Suspend an Association member or a holder of a Tenant Activity Card in accordance with these Bylaws; and
- 7.3.1.14 Provide notice to the respective Golf and Bowling Committees for their review prior to recommending a change in fees for golf or bowling.

Section 7.04 EVALUATION AND REMOVAL:

The performance of the General Manager shall be evaluated by the Governing Board on an annual basis with such performance to be measured in accordance with quantifiable performance standards approved by the Governing Board.

7.4.1 The General Manager may be terminated at any time for cause by an affirmative vote of six (6) or more Directors.

Section 7.05 VACANCY:

If a vacancy occurs in the position of the General Manager, the recruitment of qualified candidates shall proceed in accordance with these Bylaws.

7.5.1 During any period that a vacancy exists, an interim General Manager appointed by the Governing Board shall act in that capacity until a new General Manager is employed.

ARTICLE 8 CHARTERED CLUBS

Section 8.01 GENERAL:

A Chartered Club is a group of Association Members and holders of Tenant Activity Cards who have joined together in the pursuit of a particular recreational, social or leisure field of interest. A charter formalizes the club's structure and obligations and establishes the club as an Association-sponsored organization.

- 8.1.1 A charter provides priority for facility use, waiver of certain facility use fees, maintenance support, insurance coverage and administrative guidance and direction.
 - 8.1.1.1 While all Association facilities are available to all Members and holders of Tenant Activity Cards, membership in a Chartered Club may be required in order to use a particular facility assigned to a Chartered Club to protect the health, safety and welfare of the users and the protection of property.
- 8.1.2 Specific information and rules pertaining to the establishment and operation of a Chartered Club are provided in the Chartered Club RR&Ps that are available for review at the R.H. Johnson Library and online at scwclubs.com.
 - 8.1.2.1 The RR&Ps are drafted by the Chartered Club Committee, reviewed by the General Manager and approved by the Governing Board
- 8.1.3 The approval of club charters is specifically delegated to the General Manager.

Section 8.02 MEMBERSHIP:

Membership in Chartered Clubs is open to all Association Members and holders of Tenant Activity Cards in good standing without discrimination as to race, religion, color, ethnic culture or national heritage.

- 8.2.1 A club may temporarily suspend a member from the club for up to two (2) weeks with cause.
- 8.2.2 Any suspension of a member must be reported to the General Manager within two business days of the action being taken.
- 8.2.3 Membership in a club may be terminated only following a recommendation from the General Manager and approval by the Governing Board.

Section 8.03 USE OF ASSOCIATION FACILITIES:

A Club Charter extends priority for the use of an Association facility to a club either on a shared basis or on a dedicated full-time basis.

8.3.1 The Association may delegate the responsibility for certain facility operations to Chartered Clubs in order to provide to the membership affordable high quality recreational programs in a safe and orderly environment.

Section 8.04 SPECIAL PROVISION:

In addition to the Association's Governing Documents, the RR&Ps shall be the official documents that govern the Chartered Clubs.

- 8.4.1 Charters shall not be granted to any group which sets a restrictive precondition for membership or otherwise discriminates as further described in the RR&Ps except as specifically allowed by the Governing Board.
- 8.4.2 Charters shall not be granted to groups whose activities are similar in design and/or purpose to existing clubs using a common facility as described in the RR&Ps.
- 8.4.3 Charters may be revoked following a recommendation by the General Manager and approval by the Governing Board.
 - 8.4.3.1 Reasons for revoking a club charter are described in the RR&Ps.
 - 8.4.3.2 Upon receipt of a recommendation to revoke a charter from the General Manager, the Governing Board shall notify the club in question of the recommendation and set a hearing date before the Governing Board which shall not be less than ten (10) business days from the date of notice to the club.
 - 8.4.3.3 At the hearing, both the General Manager and the club in question shall have the opportunity to address the Governing Board and to present their case.
 - 8.4.3.4 The Governing Board shall provide a written notice of its final decision on the charter revocation within ten (10) business days of the hearing.
- 8.4.4 RR&Ps are available online at scwclubs.com.

ARTICLE 9 AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

Section 9.01 AMENDMENT BY OWNER MEMBER ACTION:

These Bylaws may be amended or revoked by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Owner Members voting thereon, in person or by duly cast absentee ballot, at an Owner Member meeting called for the purpose of amending the Bylaws.

- 9.1.1 In the event of a conflict concerning the Bylaws as amended by the Governing Board and Bylaws as amended by the Owner Members after these Bylaws have been initially adopted in 2007, the action of the Owner Members shall prevail for a period of not less than two years.
- 9.1.2 The Governing Board may also approve the submission of an amendment to the Bylaws to the vote of a majority of the Owner Members voting thereon, in person or by absentee ballot, at the time and place designated for the election of Governing Board Directors in the month of March.
- 9.1.3 The Owner Members may also petition the Governing Board to amend the Bylaws:
 - 9.1.3.1 At a Special Meeting of the Owner Members as provided in Section 3.3 for the purpose of voting on the proposed amendment; or

- 9.1.3.2 By a majority of the Owner Members voting thereon, in person or by absentee ballot, on the election date and time set forth for the election of Governing Board Directors in the month of March.
 - 9.1.3.2.1 In such event, the petition must be signed by at least one thousand (1,000) of the Owner Members eligible to vote and must be submitted to the Secretary of the Governing Board through the Executive Assistant, not later than sixty (60) days prior to the date set forth for the election.

Section 9.02 AMENDMENT BY GOVERNING BOARD ACTION:

- 9.2.1 <u>INTENT TO AMEND NOTIFICATION</u>: Subject to the limitations in Section 9.2.4, the Governing Board may indicate its intent to amend these Bylaws at a subsequent scheduled Board Meeting by providing notice in electronic and Association print media.
 - 9.2.1.1 Notice of such proposed Amendment shall be posted on the Association's website and conspicuously posted on Association bulletin boards at least thirty (30) days and in the Rec Center News at least ten days prior to the Governing Board taking action on the proposed Amendment.
- 9.2.2 <u>WITH OWNER MEMBER OBJECTION</u>: Prior to the subsequent meeting at which the Governing Board intended to vote on the amendment, Owner Members may petition to hold a Special Meeting of the Owner Members, as provided in Section 3.3, for the purpose of blocking the proposed amendment.
 - 9.2.2.1 If a Special Meeting is held pursuant to the Owner Member petition and a quorum is present, the quorum being composed of eligible Owner Members in person and other eligible Owner Members voting by absentee ballot, a majority of the Owner Members present and voting in person and by absentee ballot may disapprove the proposed amendment.
 - 9.2.2.2 If the Owner Members do not so disapprove at that Special Meeting, at the subsequent meeting of the Governing Board the Board, by an affirmative vote of not less than seven (7) Directors, may do one (1) of the following:
 - 9.2.2.2.1 Adopt the proposed amendment(s);
 - 9.2.2.2.2 Revise the proposed amendment(s) and again provide notice of intent to adopt at a subsequent meeting; or
 - 9.2.2.3. Reject or withdraw the proposed amendment(s).
 - 9.2.2.3 So long as the Owner Member petition remains open and unresolved, i.e., has not been put to a vote at a Special Meeting of the Owner Members, the Governing Board may not act on the proposed amendment.
- 9.2.3 <u>WITHOUT OWNER MEMBER OBJECTION</u>: If there is no objection by Owner Members as provided in Section 9.2.2, the Governing Board, by an affirmative vote of not less than seven (7) Directors, may do one (1) of the following:
 - 9.2.3.1 Adopt the proposed amendment(s);
 - 9.2.3.2 Revise the proposed amendment(s) and again provide notice of intent to adopt at a subsequent meeting; or

- 9.2.3.3 Reject or withdraw the proposed amendment(s).
- 9.2.4 <u>LIMITATION ON POWER OF GOVERNING BOARD TO AMEND</u>: The Governing Board may not adopt, amend, or repeal any provision of these Bylaws without Owner Member approval if such action would do any of the following:
 - 9.2.4.1 Amend any provisions of Article One (1);
 - 9.2.4.2 Affect the rights of Owner Members as to voting, dissolution, or transfer to a successor organization, including without limitation, the merging of the Association with any other entity;
 - 9.2.4.3 Effect an exchange, reclassification, or cancellation of all or part of the Membership;
 - 9.2.4.4 Authorize a new class of Membership;
 - 9.2.4.5 Change the number of Association Directors;
 - 9.2.4.6 Modify or change the provisions regarding notices to Owner Members;
 - 9.2.4.7 Extend the term of a Director beyond that for which the Director was elected or increase the term of a Director beyond three years;
 - 9.2.4.8 Increase or decrease any quorum requirement; or
 - 9.2.4.9 Amend any provision of these Bylaws which by its terms requires Owner Member approval.

ARTICLE 10 GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 10.01 CORPORATE SEAL:

A corporate seal shall not be requisite to the validity of any instrument executed by or on behalf of the Association. Nevertheless, if in any instance a corporate seal is used, the same shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the full name of the corporation and the words and figures "Incorporated 1979, Arizona" or words and figures of similar import.

Section 10.02 EXEMPT ACTIVITIES:

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, no Owner Member, Governing Board Director, employee, or representative of this Association shall take any action or carry on any activity by or on behalf of the Association not permitted to be taken or carried on by a nonprofit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona and federal Internal Revenue Code as they now exist or as they may hereafter be amended.

Section 10.03 INDEMNIFICATION:

The Association shall indemnify current and former Governing Board Directors, Association Officers, Chartered Club Officers, Chartered Club Committee members, and Governing Board Committee members against all expenses incurred by them, including, but not limited to, legal fees, judgments and penalties, which may be incurred, rendered or levied in any legal action brought against any of them for or on account of any act or omission to have been committed while acting within the scope of their authority as an indemnified person.

- 10.3.1 Whenever any current or former Governing Board Director, Association Officer, Chartered Club Officer, Chartered Club Committee member, or Governing Board Committee member shall report to the President of the Governing Board that they have incurred or may incur such expenses, the Governing Board shall, at its next regular meeting or at a special meeting held within a reasonable time thereafter, begin its determination of the Governing Board Director's, Association Officer's, Chartered Club Officer's, Chartered Club Committee member's, or Governing Board Committee member's entitlement to indemnity by the Association pursuant to the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and the Arizona Revised Statutes.
- 10.3.2 Any current or former Governing Board Director, Association Officer, Chartered Club Officer, Chartered Club Committee member, or Governing Board Committee member seeking indemnification by the Association agrees to cooperate with the Association in defending such action and to use counsel, approved and paid for by the Association, to defend any such action.
- 10.3.3 In addition, any current or former Governing Board Director, Association Officer, Chartered Club Officer, Chartered Club Committee member, or Governing Board Committee member seeking indemnification by the Association shall comply with the terms and conditions of any directors and officers liability insurance policy of the Association which covers, or may cover, the action and, further, said current or former Governing Board Director, Association Officer, Chartered Club Officer, Chartered Club Committee member, or Governing Board Committee member shall comply and cooperate with the insurance company's defense of the action.

Section 10.04 FISCAL YEAR:

The fiscal year for the Association shall begin on the first day of July and end on the last day of June of the following year.

10.4.1 The Governing Board is expressly authorized to change such fiscal year in accordance with the provisions and regulations prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code of the United States of America when the Governing Board deems it advisable.

Section 10.05 ADMINISTRATION OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS:

The administration office for the transaction of business of the Association and delivery of mail shall be located at 19803 North R. H. Johnson Boulevard, Sun City West, Arizona, 85375-4498.

10.5.1 The principal place of business of the Association shall be Sun City West, Maricopa County, Arizona.

Section 10.06 EXAMINING RECORDS, REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS:

Archived records, reports, and documents that are retained by the Association may be provided upon a written request made to the President of the Governing Board.

- 10.6.1 The request must clearly identify the information that is being requested and the need and purpose for the information.
- 10.6.2 The President shall respond to all requests within the time specified by the Arizona Revised Statutes or these Bylaws, whichever is shorter, including an estimate for the cost of providing the requested information.
- 10.6.3 The Governing Board may withhold from inspection any records that in its reasonable business judgment would do any of the following:

- 10.6.3.1 Constitute an invasion of privacy as defined in Federal or State statutes including, but not limited to, personnel matters or a person's medical records;
- 10.6.3.2 Disclose privileged information under the attorney-client privilege;
- 10.6.3.3 Involve pending or anticipated litigation, or contract negotiations; or
- 10.6.3.4 Disclose any other record, document or other material that a member is not entitled to inspect or copy pursuant to the provisions of the Arizona Revised Statutes.
- 10.6.4 <u>Library Copies of Records:</u> For information regarding Library copies of records see Governing Board Policy L12.
- 10.6.5 Any Director of the Governing Board shall have the right at any reasonable time to inspect any and all books, records, and documents, with the exception of personnel files as defined by federal and state Law, of the Association and the physical properties owned or controlled by the Association.
 - 10.6.5.1 The right of inspection by a Governing Board Director includes the right to make extracts and copies of documents.
 - 10.6.5.2 Both during and after their term of office, the Director shall be responsible for complete confidentiality of the non-public documents and copies thereof.
 - 10.6.5.3 The Governing Board shall require every Director leaving office to return all non-public records, documents and information, and copies thereof in the possession of such Director, to the Association Governing Board office not later than their last day in office. For purposes of this subsection, non-public documents shall include, without limitation, all records, documents and information specified in Section 10.6.3.

Section 10.07 SUN CITY WEST BOUNDARIES:

No revision or amendment shall modify the peripheral boundary of Sun City West unless approved by a written ballot vote of a majority of the Owner Members voting in an Association election. Sun City West shall mean and refer to all of the real property situated in the revised boundaries of Sun City West, Maricopa County, Arizona, more specifically identified on Exhibit B to the Articles of Incorporation as amended on January 26, 1993.

APPENDIX 1

NOMINEE FOR GOVERNING BOARD DIRECTOR BY WRITTEN PETITION

Any Owner Member in good standing may become a candidate for election to the Governing Board by filing with the elected Secretary of the Association. Petitions are available on the first business day in November. Petitions on the appropriate Association form, provided by the Association must include an "Affidavit of Circulator" on the reverse side of each petition signature sheet, and signed by the person circulating the petition. The petition must be signed by at least two hundred (200) Owner Members in good standing. Candidates must be an Owner Member in good standing, must declare availability on a year around basis for participation in the business affairs of the Association and must be available for any office which the Governing Board may select them to hold. Upon the Owner Member filing the foregoing petition and typed résumé, the elected Secretary shall obtain from the Member Services Office of the Association, certification that the Owner Member is in good standing and verify all petition signatures. Upon this certification and verification, the elected Secretary shall report to the President the names of all Owner Members who have qualified as candidates for Director by petition. Names of the candidates shall be posted on Association bulletin boards, and the website, and shall be published in the Association newsletter. A press release shall be issued to local newspapers.

Nominee Name	S	Sun City West Address			
Phone Number		Owner Member Number			
Signature	Print Name	<u>Card #</u>	<u>Date</u>		
1					
3					
-					
19 20					

RECREATION CENTERS OF SUN CITY WEST, INC. ASSOCIATION BYLAWS

NOMINEE FOR GOVERNING BOARD MEMBER BY WRITTEN PETITION APPENDIX 1a

AFFIDAVIT OF CIRCULATOR

Ι,	, an Owner Member in good standing of the Recreation Centers of
Sun City West, Inc. at all times during i	my circulation of this petition sheet, and under the penalty of perjury,
depose and say that each individual sign	ned this sheet in my presence on the date indicated, and I believe that
each signer's name is correctly stated	and that each signer is an Owner Member in good standing of the
Recreation Centers of Sun City West, I	Inc., and that at all times during circulation of this signature sheet no
other text or material of any kind was att	tached to the signature sheet.
Date:	, 20
Signature of Circulator	
Sun City West Residence Address of C	Circulator
Circulator Membership Card No.:	
Telephone Number:	

RECREATION CENTERS OF SUN CITY WEST, INC ASSOCIATION BYLAWS

APPENDIX 2 OATH OF OFFICE

I	do hereby solemnly swear that I will fulfill the duties and		
Responsibilities of a Director o	f the Recreation (Centers of Sun City We	est, Inc. (the Association)
to the best of my ability; that I l	nave read and wil	l abide by the Associat	ion Bylaws and
Governing Board policies, and	with all requirem	ents contained in Polic	y Statement L2, entitled
"Conflict of Interest," and Police	cy Statement L10	, entitled "Confidential	ity Agreement."
In Witness Whereof, I		have executed	this Oath of Office at the
Recreation Centers of Sun City	West this	day of	, 20
Signature			
State of Arizona)) ss. County of Maricopa)			
On(name)	persor	nally appeared before
me and in my presence acknow	ledged execution	of the Oath of Office:	
SEAL:			
		Notary Public of A	rizona
		My Commission Ex	xpires:

APPENDIX 3

PETITION TO CALL FOR A SPECIAL ELECTION/MEETING

The undersigned Owner Members in good standing of the Recreation Centers of Sun City West, Inc. request in two hundred (200) words or less that a special election/meeting be held for the following reasons:				
in two nundred (200) w	ords of less that a special election/life	etting be held for the follow	ring reasons.	
<u>Signature</u>	Print Name	Card #	<u>Date</u>	
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
20				

APPENDIX 3a

PETITION TO CALL FOR A SPECIAL ELECTIONS/MEETING AFFIDAVIT OF CIRCULATOR

STATE OF ARIZONA)
)SS
COUNTY OF MARICOPA)
_	
l,	, an Owner Member in good standing of the
Recreation Centers of Sun C	ity West, Inc. at all times during my circulation of this petition sheet, and under
the penalty of perjury, depos	e and say that each individual signed this sheet in my presence on the date
indicated, and I believe that	each signer's name is correctly stated and that each signer is an Owner Member
in good standing of the Recre	eation Centers of Sun City West, Inc., and that at all times during circulation of
this signature sheet no other	text or material of any kind was attached to the signature sheet.
Signature of Circulator	
Signature of Circulator	
Residence Address of Circul	ator
Circulator Membership Card	No.